



Social Work Program

Department of Criminal Justice, Social Work and Sociology

College of Humanities and Social Sciences

Southeast Missouri State University

#### NOTICE OF NONDISCRIMINATION

Southeast Missouri State University is committed to providing a safe, civil and positive learning and working environment for its faculty, staff, students, and visitors, free from discrimination in any form. This policy applies to all members and guests of the University community and prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, ethnicity, religion, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, genetic information, disability, or protected veteran status in any of its programs or activities. Harassment based on any of these classifications is a form of discrimination that also violates University policy and will not be tolerated. In some circumstances, such discrimination may also violate federal and/or state law. Retaliation is also prohibited against anyone who asserts a claim of discrimination, participates in a discrimination investigation, or otherwise opposes unlawful discrimination.

This policy is consistent with the academic mission of the University and with the legal requirements of applicable state and federal laws prohibiting discrimination. These laws include, but are not limited to: Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, the Missouri Human Rights Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Equal Pay Act, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Vietnam-Era Veterans Readjustment Act, the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008, and all amendments to the foregoing.

#### **Equal Employment Opportunities**

The University's nondiscrimination policy and commitment to equal opportunity applies to applicants for employment, to all phases of the employment process, and to all terms and conditions of employment with Southeast.

#### **Access to Educational Opportunities**

The University's prohibition against discrimination also applies to admission policies and practices, financial aid programs and to all other aspects of the University's educational programs and activities offered or sponsored by the University, in accordance with applicable law, including the requirements of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, which requires the University not to discriminate based on sex (including sexual harassment and sexual violence) in its education programs and activities.

Questions about the information in this policy or about the application of this policy may be directed to:

Office for Institutional Equity and Diversity One University Plaza MS3375 Cape Girardeau, Missouri 63701

Email: equityissues@semo.edu

Phone: 573-651-2524

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	5
Social Work Field Education	5
Generalist Social Work Practice	5
Social Work Program Mission and Goals	5
Core Competencies for Generalist Social Work Practice	6
Field Education	8
General Description of Field Education	8
Policies and Procedures	10
Requirements for Application for Field Education	10
Placement of Students in Field Agencies	10
Payment of Students for Hours Accumulated for Field Education	12
Placement of a Student at Current Work Setting	12
Placement of a Student in a Field Agency without an On-Site Field Instructor	13
The Field Education Semester	14
The Field Education Assessment of the Core Competencies	16
The Integrative Seminar (SW 449)	19
Weekly Self-Assessments	19
Grievance Policy and Procedure	20
The Selection, Approval and Maintenance of Field Agencies	20
The Selection and Approval of Field Instructors	21
Orientation, Training and Communication with Field Agencies and Field Instructors	22
Responsibilities	23
Responsibilities of the Director of Field Education	23
Responsibilities of the Faculty Liaison	23
Responsibilities of the Student during Field Education	25
Evaluation	26
Field Instructor's Evaluation of the Faculty Liaison	26
Field Instructor's Evaluation of the Program	26

Student's Evaluation of the Field Education Program	26
Student's Evaluation of the Placement & Field Instructor	26
Student's Evaluation of the Faculty Field Liaison	26
Faculty Liaison Evaluation of the Faculty Field Liaison	26
Faculty Liaison Evaluation of the Field Instructor	27
APPENDIX A – Forms	29
Field Agency and Field Instructor Data Sheet	30
Memorandum of Understanding	31
Pre-Placement Interview Form for Field Instructor	32
Pre-Placement Interview Form for Student	33
Application for Field Education	34
Advisor's Certification Form	36
Field Instructor's Evaluation of the Faculty Liaison	38
Field Instructor's Evaluation of the Program	39
Student's Evaluation of the Field Education Program	40
Student's Evaluation of Placement and Field Instructor	42
Student's Evaluation of Faculty Field Liaison	43
Faculty Liaison's Evaluation of Field Agency	44
Faculty Liaison's Evaluation of Field Instructor	46
APPENDIX B – Code of Ethics	49
National Association of Social Workers Code of Ethics	50
APPENDIX C – Assessment of Competencies Forms	53
Mid-term Assessment and Narrative of Competencies Form	54
Final Assessment and Narrative of Competencies Form	69

# FIELD EDUCATION MANUAL SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM

DEPARTMENT OF CRIMINAL JUSTICE, SOCIAL WORK, AND SOCIOLOGY

College of Humanities and Social Sciences Southeast Missouri State University

#### INTRODUCTION

#### **SOCIAL WORK FIELD EDUCATION**

The Social Work Program is responsible for designing, implementing, overseeing and evaluating a field education program in keeping with the Program's mission and goals. This program operates within the larger context of the mission and policies of Southeast Missouri State University and standards established by the Council on Social Work Education.

Field education is the "signature pedagogy" of the social work profession. It is here that the student demonstrates mastery of the core social work competencies in a real-life, rural, practice setting. This necessarily involves increased intellectual and emotional demands as the student engages actual practice situations, and transitions into professional identity. Students must be prepared to assume a high degree of responsibility, exhibit professional behavior, and adhere to rigorous standards as they engage in field education.

Field education is also the culminating point of the social work curriculum at Southeast. Field education provides a real-life context for applying theoretical and conceptual knowledge acquired in classes. Students are expected to integrate and apply previously acquired values, knowledge, skills and cognitive/affective processes as they begin working with actual clients. The Program supports the integration through numerous connecting points including the careful selection of field sites and field instructors, the weekly integrative seminar, the instrument used to measure student's competencies, and frequent, ongoing contact between students and faculty members.

#### GENERALIST SOCIAL WORK PRACTICE

Generalist practice is grounded in the liberal arts and the person and environment construct. To promote human and social well-being, generalist practitioners use a range of prevention and intervention methods in their practice with individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. The generalist practitioner identifies with the social work profession and applies ethical principles and critical thinking in practice. Generalist practitioners incorporate diversity in their practice and advocate for human rights and social, economic, and environmental justice. They recognize, support, and build on the strengths and resiliency of all human beings. They engage in research-informed practice and are proactive in responding to the impact of context on professional practice. BSW generalist practice incorporates all of the core competencies.

### SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM MISSION AND GOALS:

#### **Mission Statement:**

The Mission of the Southeast Missouri State University Social Work Program is to prepare its graduates to engage in competent, evidenced-based generalist practice with individuals, families, groups, organizations and communities largely in the rural environment; reflecting the values of economic and social justice, human diversity, the dignity and worth of the person, human rights, integrity, the importance of human relationships and service.

#### **Program Goals:**

The goal of the Social Work Program is to offer a competency-based curriculum, grounded in the liberal arts and guided by the person in environment construct, that prepares professional, generalist social workers who:

- Demonstrate mastery of the program's core competencies of knowledge, values, skills, and cognitive/affective processes for generalist practice with individuals, families, groups, organizations and communities especially in the rural environment.
- 2. Value, affirm and promote diversity as it relates to sexual orientation, gender, gender identity and expression, immigration status, political ideology, age, race, color, culture, ethnicity, religion, disabilities, class, and rural status in practice, society, and the world.
- 3. Demonstrate commitment to promoting human rights, social, economic, and environmental justice, and providing leadership in the development of service delivery systems to enhance the quality of life for all persons.
- 4. Identify with the values, ethics, purposes and philosophy of the social work profession.
- 5. Exhibit preparation for graduate education and a commitment to ongoing personal/professional development and lifelong learning.

#### CORE COMPETENCIES FOR GENERALIST SOCIAL WORK PRACTICE:

The core competencies are the minimum requirement for engaging in generalist practice as defined by the Social Work Program and mandated by the Council on Social Work Education. As listed below, they are given after the numbered designation followed by specific behaviors related to the competency.

### **Competency 1: Demonstrate Ethical and Professional Behavior**

- Make ethical decisions by applying the standards of the NASW Code of Ethics, relevant laws and regulations, models for ethical decision-making, ethical conduct of research, and additional codes of ethics as appropriate to context
- Use reflection and self-regulation to manage personal values and maintain professionalism in practice situations
- Demonstrate professional demeanor in behavior, appearance, and oral, written, and electronic communication
- Use technology ethically and appropriately to facilitate practice outcomes
- Use supervision and consultation to guide professional judgment and behavior

 Practice personal reflection and self-correction to assure continued professional development

### **Competency 2: Engage Diversity and Difference in Practice**

- Apply and communicate understanding of the importance of diversity and difference in shaping life experiences in practice at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels
- Present themselves as learners and engage clients and constituencies as experts of their own experiences
- Apply self-awareness and self-regulation to manage the influence of personal biases and values in working with diverse clients and constituencies

#### Competency 3: Advance Human Rights and Social, Economic, and Environmental Justice

- Apply their understanding of social, economic, and environmental justice to advocate for human rights at the individual and system levels
- Engage in practices that advance social, economic, and environmental justice

### Competency 4: Engage in Practice-informed Research and Research-informed Practice

- Use practice experience and theory to inform scientific inquiry and research
- Apply critical thinking to engage in analysis of quantitative and qualitative research methods and research findings
- Use and translate research evidence to inform and improve practice, policy, and service delivery

#### **Competency 5: Engage in Policy Practice**

- Identify social policy at the local, state, and federal level that impacts well-being, service delivery, and access to social services
- Assess how social welfare and economic policies impact the delivery of and access to social services
- Apply critical thinking to analyze, formulate, and advocate for policies that advance human rights and social, economic, and environmental justice

# Competency 6: Engage with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

- Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks to engage with clients and constituencies
- Use empathy, reflection, and interpersonal skills to effectively engage diverse clients and constituencies

#### Competency 7: Assess Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

- Collect and organize data, and apply critical thinking to interpret information from clients and constituencies
- Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the analysis of assessment data from clients and constituencies
- Develop mutually agreed-on intervention goals and objectives based on the critical assessment of strengths, needs, and challenges within clients and constituencies
- Select appropriate intervention strategies based on the assessment, research knowledge, and values and preferences of clients and constituencies

# Competency 8: Intervene with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

- Critically choose and implement interventions to achieve practice goals and enhance capacities of clients and constituencies
- Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in interventions with clients and constituencies
- Use inter-professional collaboration as appropriate to achieve beneficial practice outcomes
- Negotiate, mediate, and advocate with and on behalf of diverse clients and constituencies
- Facilitate effective transitions and endings that advance mutually agreed-on goals

# Competency 9: Evaluate Practice with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

- Select and use appropriate methods for evaluation of outcomes
- Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the evaluation of outcomes
- Critically analyze, monitor, and evaluate intervention and program processes and outcomes
- Apply evaluation findings to improve practice effectiveness at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels

#### FIELD EDUCATION

#### GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF FIELD EDUCATION

#### **Working Definitions:**

**Director of Field Education** – The Social Work Program faculty member responsible for the development and oversight of the field education program, including the recruitment and approval of field agencies and instructors and the placement of students in those agencies.

**Field Agency** – An *approved* social service agency or human service organization that partners with the university and the Program to provide a structured learning opportunity in which students can demonstrate mastery of the core social work competencies.

**Field Instructor** – An *approved* social worker in an approved field agency who assumes responsibility for teaching and supervising a student, and implementing the assessment of competencies.

**Task Instructor** – An *approved* key person in an *approved* field agency who is not an approved field instructor, but is on-site and assumes responsibility for teaching and supervising a student. She/he also assists the field instructor and student with implementing the assessment of competencies.

**Faculty Liaison** – A social work faculty member who provides Program oversight of the student's

educational experience. Her/his duties include making site visits to the field agency, guiding the process for assessing competencies, serving as a resource for the field instructor and student and assigning a final grade for SW 450, Field Education.

#### **Overview:**

In order to graduate with the Bachelor of Science Degree with a major in social work, all students are required to successfully complete field education, SW450, which consists of 448 clock hours of practice experience in an approved field agency under the supervision of an approved, professional social worker serving as the field instructor. SW449, the Integrative Seminar, must be taken concurrently with field education, and is also required for graduation.

#### The Field Education courses are:

- SW449 The Social Work Integrative Seminar (3 credits, Graded);
- SW450 Field Education (12 credits, Credit/No Credit).

These courses must be taken concurrently; they cannot be taken in separate semesters. A student must satisfactorily pass both courses during the same semester. If a student fails either course, then both courses must be repeated concurrently. Note that in such cases there is no guarantee that a student will be admitted to field education for a second attempt at completing these requirements.

Approved field agencies fall within the geographic region of Southeast Missouri State University. The boundaries for field agencies are Festus-Crystal City to the north, Poplar Bluff to the west, Kennett to the south, and Anna, Illinois to the east. Field agencies and field instructors are subject to an approval process using criteria and procedures established by the Social Work Program. Note: Under no circumstances should a student contact an agency or potential field instructor without authorization from the director of field education. Students cannot be paid a salary or an hourly wage for hours accumulated toward field education. In addition, except in very rare cases, students may not engage field education in a setting where they are employed performing social work or social work related duties.

Students cannot receive credit for social work related experiences prior to field. Every graduate of the Social Work Program is required to take SW449 and SW450 in their entirety, and demonstrate mastery of the core social work competencies.

Students apply for field placement during the semester immediately prior to field education. Students must assume responsibility for applying for field early in the semester prior to field education. The process for applying for field education includes attendance at required meetings, completing paperwork, meeting deadlines, and other requirements.

During the first week of the field semester all students enrolled in field education are required to meet with their liaisons and attend a general orientation meeting. From the second week of the semester through the end of the semester, students are assigned to field agencies for four days each week, Monday through Thursday. On Friday mornings, field students are required to participate in the Integrative Seminar (SW449), which is held on campus. As part of this class, students are also required to meet in small groups with their faculty liaisons. Students are also required to keep a weekly self-assessment chronicling their field experience.

To successfully complete field education and graduate from the program, the student must meet Program benchmarks in every one of the 9 core competencies, as scored in the *Final Field* 

Education Assessment of Competencies assessment tool. The student must also take and pass the integrative seminar, SW449, with a minimum grade of "C" and have an overall 2.25 GPA to graduate.

#### POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

#### **Requirements for Applying for Field Education**

**Policy:** Students cannot receive credit for social work related experiences prior to field. Every graduate of the Social Work Program is required to take SW4S449 and SW450 in their entirety, and demonstrate mastery of the core social work competencies.

Students may not take additional course work during field education semester. Field education is undertaken only after the student has completed all other requirements for graduation except field education. This policy includes all non-coursework requirements by the university (i.e. the university writing examination and all other requirements) and the Social Work Program.

All of the following must be completed or in progress in order to apply for field education:

- 1. Completion of at least 105 university credit hours.
- 2. A cumulative 2.5 GPA (Grade Point Average), or a cumulative GPA of 2.25, plus a GPA of 2.75 in the professional foundation social work courses (i.e. SW110, SW201, SW 205, SW221, SW 222, SW207) and the core social work courses (i.e. SW242, SW307, SW308, SW310, SW321, SW322, SW323, SW342).
- 3. Completion of all University General Education requirements.
- 4. Completion of the professional foundation courses, the core social work courses (see #2 above), a basic knowledge course (PY101), and two social work electives with a minimum grade of "C" in all courses.
- 5. Completion of a portfolio of standardized assignments.
- 6. Successful completion of the University's writing proficiency exam, and any other exams required by the university.
- 7. Completion of any required professional competency examination(s) given within the Program.

### **Placement of Students in Field Agencies**

**General:** Students wishing to enter field are required to meet the criteria outlined above and follow the established field application process during the semester immediately prior to field education. It is the responsibility of the student to be aware of and meet all deadlines related to the field placement process. Students must attend all group and individual meetings and complete all required material by announced deadlines.

**Policy:** The I Social Work Program has sole responsibility for approving field agencies and field instructors, placing social work students, and managing and evaluating approved agencies and field instructors.

# UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES IS A STUDENT TO CONTACT ANY AGENCY OR FIELD INSTRUCTOR ABOUT PLACEMENT WITHOUT AUTHORIZATION FROM THE DIRECTOR OF FIELD EDUCATION.

**Procedure:** The process for student placement in an approved field agency is comprised of the following required steps:

- 1. The student must attend the field education informational meeting when scheduled by the director of field education. At this meeting, all forms required for application to field education are distributed and deadline dates are announced.
- 2. The student must submit her/his completed *Application for Field Education* to the director of field education by the announced deadline date. The student should retain copies of the forms for her/his files.
- 3. The student must complete the *Advisor's Certification Form* and meet with his/her Academic Advisor for review of the form. The signature of the Academic Advisor is required and verifies, unless noted otherwise, that the student has met all the academic requirements for field education. This meeting with the Academic Advisor is considered the regular advising session for the semester. The *Advisor's Certification Form* is submitted by the student to the director of field education by the announced deadline date.
- 4. The student submits a resume to accompany the required field application forms by the deadline date.
- 5. The student registers with the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services Family Care Safety Registry and/or completes the paperwork to generate a current background check from the registry. The appropriate state forms, which are distributed at the informational meeting, must be completed and accompanied by the required fee(s). The Social Work Program will receive from the registry a criminal background check, a child abuse and neglect screening, and other background information.

Note: Due to the growing number of state and federal laws governing human service work with individuals of all ages, the professional moral turpitude standards and state licensing laws, persons with felony conviction(s) are ordinarily not allowed to work or be placed in certain social welfare agencies or with certain client groups traditionally served by social workers. In addition, offenses, felony or otherwise, involving violence and/or crime victims can cause a student to be disqualified for certain placements. Therefore, the result of the background check could render a student ineligible for some or all field education agency placements. If the result of the background check prevents a student from being placed for field education, the student will not continue as a social work major.

- 6. The director of field education reviews the student's application. If the student meets all requirements, the director of field education then meets individually with the student to establish the student's interest in settings and/or agencies.
- 7. The student applications and proposed student-agency matches are subsequently submitted by the director of field education to the social work faculty for review. During this review, the director of field education and the faculty make a final determination of field agency assignment(s).

Reasonable effort will be made by the Program to place each eligible student in her/his preferred setting or geographical location; however, the Program cannot guarantee placement in preferred settings or geographical locations.

- 8. The director of field education then contacts each prospective field instructor to determine willingness to accept a student for the upcoming semester.
- 9. The student is then instructed by the director of field education to contact the selected field instructor(s) to arrange a pre-placement interview.
- 10. At the interview, the student will provide the field instructor with a copy of the student's *Application for Field Education*, completed *Advisor's Certification Form*, resume, *Pre-placement Interview Form for Field Instructor*, and the student's Portfolio of Standardized Assignments.
- 11. During the interview, the field instructor and student will discuss the learning experiences available at the agency. The field instructor will also assess the student's expectations, knowledge, experience, personal characteristics and portfolio content and scores as indicators of the student's potential for success in the placement.
- 12. Following the interview, the student and the field instructor will complete their respective *pre-placement interview forms* and return them to the director of field education. If both *Pre-Placement Interview forms* are affirmative, the director of field education will confirm the placement with the student and the field instructor in writing.
- 13. If the first field agency referral fails to provide a placement for the student, the director of field education will make reasonable effort to refer the student to additional agencies.
- 14. Reasonable effort will be made to assist every eligible student to establish placement in an approved field agency; however, field agencies have the right to decline a student referred to them for field placement. The Social Work Program cannot guarantee placement of students in field agencies or completion of the program.

#### Payment of Students for Hours Accumulated for Field Education

**Policy:** Students in field education may not be paid wages or a salary for their services while accumulating hours. However, in some approved cases, students may accept scholarships, educational grants, and stipends.

**Procedure**: Field agencies wishing to provide a scholarship, grant or stipend to the student in field placement must inform, in writing, the director of field education in advance. The amount of the scholarship, grant, or stipend should be given in the notification along with any expectations or obligations that may be tied to receipt of such funds. The director of field education will inform the faculty of such proposals. The faculty reserves the right to approve or decline such placement arrangements.

#### Placement of a Student at Current Work Setting

**General:** The Social Work Program strongly discourages students from attempting their field education in settings where they are employed. There is great concern that such placements may negatively affect learning, growth, and professional development. A student's mastery of the core

competencies may conflict with employment-related expectations. Conflicts of interest may also easily arise, potentially influencing the quality of the educational experience. Moreover, such arrangements place the faculty liaison and director of field education in the awkward position of monitoring a situation that is assumed from the outset to be potentially problematic.

Although such placements are rarely approved, a student may submit a request to the director of field education for faculty review of a proposed placement at a student's place of employment.

**Policy:** The following policies apply in the case of field education placement occurring at a student's place of employment:

- 1. The student cannot be paid for hours counted toward field education.
- 2. All duties and responsibilities counted toward field education hours must be totally separate and different from those associated with the student's current *or previous* job descriptions.
- 3. The field instructor cannot have supervised the employee at any time, present or past.
- 4. The administration of the organization must agree in writing to the terms of the placement.
- 5. The field agency and field instructor must be approved using Program criteria and procedure.

**Procedure:** A student wishing to pursue field placement at a place of employment should submit a written request with his/her *Application for Field Education*. This request must include:

- 1. The name of the social service organization where the student is employed and the student's current job title.
- 2. A brief description of student's current duties and responsibilities as an employee.
- 3. A rationale for the exception to general policy.
- 4. A detailed description of how the Field Education experience and hours will be different from the student's duties and responsibilities as an employee.
- 5. A written statement from the agency's director acknowledging and accepting the above requirements if approval is granted.

The director of field education will notify the student of the faculty's decision in response to the request within thirty days of receipt of the request. *The faculty reserves the right to approve or decline such placement arrangements.* 

#### Placement of a Student in a Field Agency without an On-Site Field Instructor

General: Students in field education are ordinarily supervised on-site by a qualified field instructor who is an employee of the field agency. The Social Work Program may, however, on rare occasions, desire to use an agency for which an on-site qualified field instructor does not exist. This could occur when an agency is identified that offers unique generalist practice experiences for students that are not available in other area agencies. In such cases, the Program may use the agency for student placements by arranging for a qualified field instructor who is off-site to provide supervision for the student.

**Policy:** The Program will occasionally make an exception to the general policy requiring an onsite field instructor by allowing supervision of the student by a member of the faculty or by an approved field instructor from another agency.

**Procedure:** The director of field education must coordinate with the agency, agency staff, and proposed field instructor an arrangement that is acceptable to the faculty. An acceptable arrangement will assure adequate educational supervision for the student. The following guidelines will be followed:

- 1. The student will receive a minimum of one hour per week face-to-face educational supervision from the selected qualified professional acting as field instructor.
- 2. An individual on site at the agency will be identified who will provide the daily "task" management and assignment of duties for the student. This *approved* task instructor will meet with the student as well as with the Field Instructor frequently throughout the field placement semester to assure continuity in the field experience.

#### **The Field Education Semester**

**General:** Field students are assigned to faculty liaisons prior to the beginning of the semester. During the first week of classes, field students will meet individually with their liaisons to review their portfolio and scores (See Field Education Assessment of the Core Competencies, page 12). Students do not begin accumulating hours at the field agency until Monday of the second week of classes.

The first Friday of the semester students will attend an orientation session for all students in field.

Beginning with the second week of classes, students will begin accumulating hours at the field agency. In most cases, this will be for 4 days a week, for 8 hours a day, from Monday through Thursday for 15 weeks. The student must complete 448 hours in no less than 14 full weeks.

All field students are required to attend SW449, The Integrative Seminar, on campus every Friday during the semester using the University calendar. Included in this class is a one-hour small group session facilitated by the student's faculty liaison.

- 1. Students must adhere to the full scope of the NASW Code of Ethics (see Appendix B, page 48) at all times in field education. It is the responsibility of the student to be aware of the scope and contents of code of ethics. The student is responsible for knowing when she/he is in a problematic or potentially problematic ethical or legal situation and must seek supervision from the field instructor or liaison when necessary.
- 2. Students must exercise the ethical principle of confidentiality at all times concerning case materials, agency files and all other client information. This complies with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and the National Association of Social Workers Code of Ethics.
- 3. Students must inform the faculty liaison of any situation in which there is a conflict of interest. This includes situations in which there is an appearance of a conflict of interest. Conflict of interest is defined as any situation that could adversely influence

- the objectivity, integrity, or professional commitment of the student or field instructor by virtue of family, business, or other relationship or tie.
- 4. Students are required to adhere to the field agency dress code and maintain professional demeanor at all times.
- 5. The student must have reliable personal transportation for reporting to the field agency every day and completing tasks such as home visits, meetings, etc. as required by the field agency. Exceptions are requested by the student at the time of application for field education.
- 6. Field education students follow the calendar of the field agency concerning accumulating field hours and holidays. Field students do not follow the University holidays schedule (e.g. field students are expected to be at the field agency during spring and fall breaks), except concerning the Integrative Seminar which meets according to the University schedule.
- 7. Students must complete 448 documented hours at the field agency in no less than 14 weeks, beginning with the second week of classes. This means the student can finish no earlier than the end of the 15<sup>th</sup> week of classes. Students who accumulate 448 hours before the 14-week period are required to continue a regular schedule at the field agency through the end of the 15<sup>th</sup> week of classes.
- 8. Field students are responsible for maintaining the *Field Education Time Sheet* and acquiring the signature of the field instructor verifying the hours worked on a weekly basis.
- 9. The student must meet with the agency field instructor for a one-hour face-to-face supervisory conference each week. The student shall prepare an agenda prior to these conferences. A typical agenda may include: demonstration of core competencies and related behaviors/evidence; ethical, cultural, and social justice issues encountered in practice; and the integration of skills, concepts and knowledge in practice. At this meeting, students will also discuss specific client contacts during the past week and seek consultation/supervision from the field instructor as needed.
- 10. Students must assume primary responsibility for monitoring progress on the *Field Education Assessment of Competencies* (Midterm and Final versions). Although the field assessment process ultimately requires student and field instructor input, the student has primary responsibility for monitoring his/her progress on behaviors, identifying evidence to show mastery of competence and bringing areas of concern to the field instructor and/or the liaison. Documentation of evidence should be client and date specific without the use of client identifying information.
- 11. For situations involving discrimination, harassment, illegal acts, and serious violations at the field agency, the student should first consult with the faculty liaison. Students experiencing other difficulties should attempt to resolve problems that arise at the field agency by first working towards a solution with the field instructor. If the student cannot achieve resolution through his/her own efforts, either with or without consultation with the faculty liaison, the faculty liaison and/or director of field, may then become directly involved in mediating and resolving conflicts.
- 12. If a student is asked to leave a field agency due to illegal, unprofessional, or unethical behavior, or due to the student's consistent failure to meet basic requirements, the student will fail SW449, and SW450. If, however, the student cannot continue in an

- assigned field agency due to agency-related circumstances beyond the student's control, the Social Work Program will make reasonable effort to secure another field placement in a timely manner.
- 13. Field students are required to attend and participate in the Integrative Seminar (SW 449) which is held on campus on Fridays. Students must attend this graded class, actively participate in class discussions, and successfully complete all assignments in a timely manner.
- 14. Students are required to submit weekly self-assessments to their faculty liaisons.
- 15. Students must attend all weekly small group meetings with their assigned faculty liaisons. During this meeting, which is led by the faculty liaison, students are expected to share, process and integrate field experiences with their group.

#### Field Education Assessment of the Core Competencies

**General:** In field education, students are expected to develop and demonstrate mastery of the core competencies for entry-level generalist practice. Assessment is achieved through the *Field Education Assessment of Competencies* instrument, which has midterm and final versions (see Appendix C, inserts). These will be subsequently referred to as the *Midterm Assessment Form*, and the *Final Assessment Form*. These forms are completed by the field instructor, with input from the student, prior to the liaison's visits for mid-term and final evaluation.

- 1. Throughout their coursework prior to field, students must maintain a Portfolio of Standardized Assignments comprised of scored cover sheets and the graded standardized assignments. The students are required to produce their physical portfolio for their liaisons at different times during the field semester
- 2. By the end of the field semester, the student must achieve a benchmark of "mastery" for every core competency as reflected in the *Final Assessment Form*. Field Education, SW450, is graded as credit/no credit. **Failure to achieve mastery of any core competency will result in no credit for SW450, Field Education.**
- 3. Students must assume primary responsibility for monitoring progress on the *Midterm Assessment Form and Final Assessment Form*. Although the field assessment process ultimately requires student and field instructor input, the student has primary responsibility for monitoring his/her progress on behaviors, identifying evidence to show mastery of competence and bringing areas of concern to the field instructor and/or the liaison. Documentation of evidence of progress should be client and date specific without using identifying client information.
- 4. Faculty liaisons will make no less than three visits to field sites during the semester to monitor and oversee the assessment of the core competencies and the student's overall progress.
- 5. Using the assessment and recommendations of the field instructor, the faculty liaison has final responsibility for evaluating mastery of the core competencies and assigning the credit for SW450.

#### **Procedure:**

- 1. During the first week of the field semester, the faculty liaison will obtain a Program generated report summarizing the student's scores for behaviors and competencies during coursework prior to field education. This is referred to as the *Portfolio Report*. This report will reflect all scores on standardized assignments for the student. This report should match the cover sheets in the student's physical Portfolio of Standardized Assignments.
- 2. During the first week of the semester, each student will meet individually with her/his liaison to review the physical portfolio and the competency scores in the *Portfolio Report*.
- 3. The liaison will arrange an initial field visit to the field agency to meet with the student and the field instructor early in the semester. This meeting will occur any time after the initial meeting with the student (above) and no later than the fourth week of the semester. At this meeting, the liaison will again review the portfolio scores for competencies/behaviors with the field instructor and the student, noting areas of strengths and weaknesses, and possible areas of concern. The student should be prepared to provide the physical portfolio of standardized assignments for review if requested.
- 4. At this initial meeting, the liaison will arrange a midterm field visit (2<sup>nd</sup> visit) with the student and the field instructor to review progress on competencies/behaviors as scored by the field instructor on the *Midterm Assessment Form*.
- 5. During the first half of the semester, field instructors and students will use the *Midterm Assessment Form* as a reference point for structuring the weekly supervision meetings. Students must assume primary responsibility for monitoring progress on the *Midterm Assessment Form*. Although the field assessment process ultimately requires student and field instructor input, the student has primary responsibility for monitoring his/her progress on behaviors, identifying evidence to show mastery of competence and bringing areas of concern to the field instructor and/or the liaison. Progress on mastery of competency will be discussed and "evidence" noted and recorded on the form by the field instructor, or the task instructor in close collaboration with the field instructor. Field instructors may also opt to have the student document the "evidence" on the form; if this method of documentation is used, the field instructor must initial each entry of "evidence" to indicate review of the documentation. This documentation should be client and date specific without using client identifying information.
- 6. At midterm (no later than the 7<sup>th</sup> week of field education), the field instructor will have scored the student on each behavior on the *Midterm Assessment Form* using the 4 point rubric provided on the form. The student and field instructor will also enter evidence for each behavior supporting the behavior score. This should be completed in advance of the liaison's midterm field visit. The Field Instructor should also complete the Midterm Narrative Assessment portion of the *Midterm Assessment Form* prior to the visit.
- 7. At the midterm meeting progress relative to portfolio scores, areas of strength, and behaviors requiring improvement will be identified and discussed. The *Midterm Assessment Form* is then signed by the liaison, the field instructor, and the student

- indicating that the midterm field meeting has occurred and that the competencies have been discussed.
- 8. The liaison will obtain a copy of the completed *Midterm Assessment Form* and give it to the director of field education to be placed in the student's permanent file. The *Midterm Assessment Form* is not used for assessing or reporting past midterm. It may, however, be used as a reference as assessment then shifts to the *Final Assessment Form*.
- 9. At the midterm meeting, the liaison will arrange a final field visit (3rd visit) with the student and the field instructor to review progress on competencies/behaviors as scored by the field instructor on the *Final Assessment Form*.
- 10. After the mid-term meeting, field instructors and students will use the *Final Assessment Form* as a reference point for structuring the weekly supervision meetings. Students must assume primary responsibility for monitoring progress on the *Final Assessment Form*. Although the field assessment process ultimately requires student and field instructor input, the student has primary responsibility for monitoring his/her progress on behaviors, identifying evidence to show mastery of competence and bringing areas of concern to the field instructor and/or the liaison. Progress on mastery of competency will be discussed and "evidence" noted and recorded on the form by the field instructor.
- 11. Near the end of the field semester, as a part of the SW449 Integrative Seminar course, students will be asked to complete a program evaluation form along with a self-assessment of competency form as a means of personal reflection and self-correction for preparation for professional social work practice.
- 12. Prior to the liaison's final field visit (3<sup>rd</sup> visit) to field agency, the field instructor will have scored the student on each behavior on the *Final Assessment Form* using the 3-point rubric provided on the form. The student and Field Instructor will also enter evidence for each behavior supporting the behavior score. This should be completed in advance of the liaison's final field visit. The Field Instructor should also complete the final portion of *the Final Assessment Form*, the Final Narrative Assessment of Field Student form prior to the visit.
- 13. During the last two weeks of classes for the semester, the faculty liaison will make the final field agency site visit with the student and the field instructor. The primary focus of this meeting will be on the *Final Assessment Form* as scored by the field instructor. The student's self-evaluation may provide points for discussion of the student's mastery of the behaviors and competencies.
- 14. For competencies in which the student has met the required benchmark of "3" (mastery) *for all behaviors*, there is no need to calculate the overall score for the competency during this meeting as mastery of the competency has been established. If, however, a student fails to meet the benchmark for mastery of any behavior, *the liaison will calculate a score for the competency during the field visit* using the percentage guideline (student could score a 2 on one behavior within the competency) stated on the *Final Assessment Form*.
- 15. *The Final Assessment Form* is then signed by the liaison, the field instructor and the student indicating that the final field meeting has occurred and that the competencies were discussed.

- 16. The original *Portfolio Report*, the Midterm and Final Assessment Forms and the Narrative Assessment for Midterm and Final form, and the timesheets are given by the faculty liaison to the director of field education to become part of the student's permanent record.
- 17. The faculty liaison will then submit a final grade of credit or no credit for SW450, Field Education.

#### **The Integrative Seminar (SW449)**

**General:** The purpose of this course is to support the student during her/his field education experience. This includes the integration of social work knowledge, values, cognitive/affective processes, and skills as the student progresses in developing and demonstrating the core competencies in a generalist practice setting. In essence, through SW449, field students will connect the theoretical and conceptual contributions of previous course work with real-world evidence-based practice, with emphasis on the rural context.

The course meets on Friday mornings, using the university schedule. It is a graded, 3 hour course with multiple assignments. It must be passed in order to graduate. In addition, on Fridays students attend an hour long small group conducted by the faculty liaison. The small group is designed to provide the student optimum opportunities to discuss cases, experiences, and professional development. Small group participation, including weekly self-assessments, is factored at one third of the final grade for SW449.

#### **Weekly Self-Assessments**

#### **Policy:**

During the field semester each student is required to keep a weekly self-assessment that she/he shares with her/his assigned faculty liaison. Weekly self-assessment entries may provide basis for small group discussions.

Faculty liaisons maintain the confidentiality of the weekly self-assessments; they are not shared with Field Instructors.

At a minimum, the weekly self-assessment entries should address the following:

- 1. Key experiences of the week a description of the activities in which the student was involved, with client specific situations noted minus any identifying client information.
- 2. Personal competency discussion of behaviors/skills/competencies the student feels she/he has performed well during the past week, including discussion of what could be improved and what might have been handled differently.
- 3. Ethical issues/challenges description of instances involving ethical issues including incidents that challenged the student's personal values with discussion of how these issues/challenges were addressed/resolved.
- 4. Weekly supervision with Field Instructor documentation of the date, time, and persons in attendance for the one hour weekly supervisory meeting.

- 5. Competencies, behaviors/skills student-generated agenda for the weekly meeting detailing the competencies, and behaviors/skills addressed during the past week and discussed at the weekly supervisory meeting.
- 6. Discussion of integration of competencies and curriculum narrative of at least two behaviors from the past week about which the student connected theoretical and conceptual contributions from the curriculum with practice and about which the student practiced self-reflection.

Individual faculty liaisons may have requirements beyond these points. At the beginning of the semester, the faculty liaison will discuss with the student his or her expectations for the weekly self-assessment and provide specific information about format, content, any additional content, submission and deadlines.

#### **Grievance Policy and Procedures**

See Social Work Program Student Handbook.

#### The Selection, Approval, and Maintenance of Field Agencies

**General:** Field Agencies are social work agencies and human service organizations that agree to partner with the Program in order to provide structured learning opportunities in which students can develop and demonstrate beginning mastery of the core social work competencies. Approved field agencies have the following general characteristics:

- 1. A commitment to social work education including a willingness to actively participate on an ongoing basis. (Note that one-time field placements for a single student are usually inconsistent with the mission and goals of the Program).
- 2. A setting that provides opportunities for students to develop and demonstrate mastery of the core social work competencies.
- 3. The presence and commitment of personnel with the required credentials to serve as field instructor(s).
- 4. A willingness to dedicate agency resources to the education and development of field instructor(s) and students.

**Procedure:** The Director of Field Education has responsibility for identifying social service organizations to serve as field agencies. He or she is also responsible for contacting, evaluating and monitoring approved field agencies to ensure that they continue to meet criteria established by the Program. The Director of Field Education proposes field agencies that meet criteria for final approval by the faculty.

- 1. Only approved agencies with approved field instructors may be used for field education.
- 2. Approved field agencies are expected to comply with all Social Work Program policies and procedures related to field education.

3. An agent of an approved field agency must sign the *Memorandum of Understanding for Field Education* between the Social Work Program and the agency prior to student placement. This agreement must be updated every two years.

#### Criteria for selection, approval, and maintenance of field agencies:

- A. Adhere to and promote policies and procedures consistent with the NASW Code of Ethics.
- B. Exhibit overall consistency with the mission and goals of the Social Work Program.
- C. Indicate and demonstrate a strong commitment to undergraduate social work education in a rural context.
- D. Be located in the region of Southeast Missouri State University, allowing for close communication and collaboration with the department. Boundaries of placements are Festus-Crystal City to the north, Poplar Bluff to the west, Kennett to the south, and Anna, Illinois to the east.
- E. Employ a professional social worker who meets criteria for field instructors outlined below.
- F. Dedicate resources and personnel required to educate field students.
- G. Provide opportunities for generalist learning experience consistent with the development and demonstration of all of the core social work competencies.
- H. Structure learning opportunities to provide for meaningful generalist practice experience with clients of the agency.
- I. Provide a professional environment for the student that is safe and includes adequate workspace, telephone access, necessary office supplies, and the equipment needed to perform assigned duties and responsibilities.

#### **The Selection and Approval of Field Instructors**

**General:** The field instructor is a qualified social worker from an approved agency or organization who assumes the primary responsibility for the instruction, supervision, and evaluation of students as they develop and demonstrate mastery of the core competencies in practice. He or she provides a role model as the student is formally socialized into the profession. Most importantly, the field instructor has primary responsibility for ensuring that the student demonstrates mastery of the core competencies before graduating.

- 1. Possesses a baccalaureate or graduate degree in social work from an institution of higher learning accredited by the Council on Social Work Education.
- 2. Has a minimum of two years practice experience after receiving either degree, and is a competent, ethical, self-regulated practitioner.
- 3. Attends field instructor orientation and training at least one training per calendar year.

4. Provides weekly one hour, face-to-face supervision with the student and, if needed, more frequent supervision.

**Procedure:** The director of field education is responsible for recruiting, approving, evaluating, providing training for and maintaining ongoing communication with field instructors. Initially, the director of field education meets with the prospective field instructor to determine interest and availability to serve as a field instructor. Required documentation includes a resume, and a completed *Field Agency and Field Instructor Data Sheet form.* See Appendix A, page 27.

#### Criteria for field instructors:

A field instructor must meet and maintain the following criteria:

- 1. Has adequate knowledge and understanding of generalist social work practice and core social work competencies.
- 2. Identifies strongly with the social work profession.
- 3. Demonstrates a commitment to social work education.
- 4. Possesses the skills needed for teaching and supervision.
- 5. Fosters and promotes identification with the values and ethics of the profession.
- 6. Provides practice opportunities for the student to develop and demonstrate core social work competencies.

#### Orientation, Training and Communication with Field Agencies and Instructors

General: The Director of Field Education is responsible for scheduling and leading orientation and training events for field instructors. Individual training and orientation sessions are provided to field instructors when needed. Content includes orientation to the Field Education Program including the assessment of student competencies. Presentations also include continuing education programs designed to enhance the overall effectiveness of the program's field instructors. Faculty liaisons and the director of field education share responsibility for maintaining open communication with field agencies and field instructors through on site agency visits and telephone/e-mail contacts.

- 1. The Program will provide field instructor orientation and training a minimum of one time per semester.
- 2. The field instructor is required to attend a minimum of one orientation and training session per year.
- 3. The Director of Field Education and the faculty liaison are responsible for communicating with field agencies and field instructors in accordance with policies and procedures outlined in the preceding policy sections of this manual.

# RESPONSIBILITIES: DIRECTOR OF FIELD EDUCATION, FACULTY LIAISONS AND STUDENTS

#### **Responsibilities of the Director of Field Education**

The director of field education has administrative responsibility for the field education program. Responsibilities of the director of field education include:

- 1. Selecting, recruiting, and maintaining field agencies; and developing collaborative relationships with those agencies.
- 2. Planning and facilitating orientation and training programs.
- 3. Providing orientation to field education for students.
- 4. Collecting and maintaining all paperwork and documentation related to field education.
- 5. Screening and approving student applications for admission to the field education program.
- 6. Arranging for the placement of students in field agencies.
- 7. Assigning faculty liaisons.
- 8. Arranging for coverage of liability insurance for field education students.
- 9. Handling conflicts, complaints and grievances related to the field education.
- 10. Communicating with students, faculty, and field instructors on matters related to field education.
- 11. Ensuring that the field education program complies with all relevant CSWE standards.

#### **Responsibilities of the Faculty Liaison**

As part of their semester workload, members of the faculty may be assigned the role of faculty liaison. Faculty liaisons provide oversight of the field education experience.

Responsibilities of the faculty liaison include:

- 1. Developing working relationships and communicating with assigned field instructors.
- 2. Mediating issues that may arise between the student, field instructor, and the field agency.
- 3. Conducting a minimum of three on-site visits to each field agency during the semester.
- 4. Serving as a resource to field instructors related to assessing competencies, identifying evidence, and scoring behaviors.
- 5. Overseeing the assessment process of the Core Competencies in field education.
- 6. Communicating with the Director of Field Education and faculty, as needed, about student, field agency or field instructor issues.

- 7. Assisting with field instructor training and orientation.
- 8. Conducting weekly small group meetings with assigned field students.
- 9. Establishing expectations for student weekly self-assessments including format, content, and submission deadlines.
- 10. Reading and providing timely feedback on weekly student self-assessments.
- 11. Maintaining all required paperwork and documentation related to field education.
- 12. Providing feedback to the Director of Field Education and the Program about the field agencies.
- 13. Evaluating and grading student performance in weekly small groups as part of the final grade for the Integrative Seminar
- 14. Submitting the final grade for students in field education

#### **Responsibilities of the Student During Field Education**

#### Student responsibilities include:

- Adhering to the full scope of the NASW Code of Ethics at all times in field education.
   It is the responsibility of the student to be aware of the scope and contents of the code
   of ethics. The student is responsible for knowing when she/he is in an ethical dilemma
   or in a legally or ethically compromising situation and is responsible for seeking
   supervision from the field instructor, faculty liaison or Director of Field Education
   when necessary.
- Exercising the ethical principle of confidentiality at all times concerning case materials, agency files and all other client information. This complies with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and the National Association of Social Workers Code of Ethics.
- 3. Informing the Director of Field Education of any situation where there is a conflict of interest. This includes situations in which there is an appearance of a conflict of interest. Conflict of interest is defined as any situation that could adversely influence the objectivity, integrity, or professional commitment of the student or field instructor by virtue of family, business, or other relationship or tie.
- 4. Adhering to the field agency dress code and maintaining professional demeanor at all times.
- 5. Maintaining reliable personal transportation for reporting to the field agency every day and to completing tasks such as home visits, meetings, etc. as required by the field agency. Students will need to request exceptions for this responsibility at the time of application for field education.
- 6. Meeting with the field instructor for a one-hour face-to-face supervisory conference each week, including preparation of an agenda prior to these conferences. A typical agenda may include: demonstration of core competencies and related behaviors; ethical, cultural, and social justice issues encountered in practice; and the integration of skills, concepts and knowledge in practice.
- 7. Maintaining the Field Education Time Sheet form and acquiring the signature of the field instructor verifying hours on a weekly basis.
- 8. Assuming primary responsibility for monitoring progress on the Field Education Assessment of Competencies (Midterm and Final versions). Although the field assessment process ultimately involves student and field instructor input, the student has primary responsibility for monitoring progress on behaviors and bringing areas of concern to the field instructor and/or the liaison
- 9. Attending and participating in the Integrative Seminar (SW 449) which is held on campus on Fridays.
- 10. Attending weekly small group meetings with assigned faculty liaisons.
- 11. Writing and submitting weekly self-assessments to her/his liaison.

#### **EVALUATION**

The Social Work Program is committed to gathering and analyzing information obtained through a thorough evaluation process in order to continuously improve the quality of the field education program.

#### Field Instructor's Evaluation of the Faculty Liaison

**Procedure**: At the end of each semester, the Director of Field Education will provide to, and collect from Field Instructors, the *Field Instructor's Evaluation of the Faculty Liaison* form. The evaluation forms will be complied and submitted to the BSW Program Director for review. The BSW Program Director will distribute the evaluations to the respective faculty liaisons. See *Field Instructor's Evaluation of Faculty Liaison* form in Appendix A, pg. 25.

#### Field Instructor's Evaluation of the Program

**Procedure:** At the end of each semester, the Director of Field Education will provide to, and collect from Field Instructors the *Field Instructor's Program Evaluation* form to obtain information related to this policy. The information will be compiled in a report to be presented to the BSW Program Director, and to the faculty at a faculty meeting. See *Field Instructor Evaluation of the Program* form in Appendix A, pg. 25.

#### **Student's Evaluation of the Field Education Program**

**Procedure:** At the end of each semester, the Director of Field Education will provide to, and collect from students the *Student's Program Evaluation* form to obtain information related to this policy. The information will be compiled in a report to be presented to the BSW Program Director, and to the faculty at a faculty meeting. See *Student's Evaluation of the Field Education Program* form in Appendix A, pg. 25.

### Student's Evaluation of the Placement and Field Instructor

**Procedure**: At the end of each semester, the Director of Field Education will provide to, and collect from students the *Student's Placement Evaluation* form to obtain information related to this policy. The information will be compiled in a report to be presented to the BSW Program Director and to the faculty at a faculty meeting. See *Student's Evaluation of the Placement and Field Instructor* form in Appendix A, pg. 25.

#### **Student's Evaluation of the Faculty Field Liaison**

**Procedure**: At the end of each semester, the Director of Field Education will provide to, and collect from students the *Student Evaluation of Faculty Liaison* form to obtain information related to this policy. The completed data sheets will be submitted to the Department Administrative Assistant for processing at IT. Once the results are returned, the Department Chairperson will distribute the evaluations to the respective faculty liaisons. See *Student Evaluation of Faculty Field Liaison* form in Appendix A, pg. 25.

#### Faculty Liaison Evaluation of the Faculty Field Liaison

**Procedure**: At the end of each semester, the Director of Field Education will provide to, and

collect from faculty liaisons the *Faculty Liaison Evaluation of the Field Agency* form to obtain information related to this policy. The completed forms will be submitted to the BSW Program Director and faculty for review. As the information is analyzed and evaluated, the BSW Program Director, Director of Field Education, and faculty can draw upon this information as they develop and implement plans to continuously improve the quality of the field placement experience and the Social Work Program. See *Faculty Liaison Evaluation of the Field Agency* form in Appendix A, pg. 26.

#### **Faculty Liaison Evaluation of the Field Instructor**

**Procedure**: At the end of each semester, the Director of Field Education will provide to, and collect from faculty liaisons the *Faculty Liaison Evaluation of the Field Instructor* form to obtain information related to this policy. The completed evaluation forms will be submitted to the BSW Program Director and faculty for review. As the information is analyzed and evaluated, the BSW Program Director, Director of Field Education, and faculty can draw upon this information as they develop and implement plans to continuously improve the quality of the field placement experience and the Social Work Program. See of the *Faculty Liaison Evaluation of Field Instructor* form in Appendix A, pg. 26.

# **APPENDIX A**

# **FORMS**

# FIELD AGENCY & FIELD INSTRUCTOR DATA SHEET Agency Name \_\_\_\_\_ Date\_\_\_\_ Address \_\_\_\_ Phone # E-mail address Agency or Program Director Official Title Education and Training of Director: 1. Degrees Held, Awarding Institutions 2. Other Related Training Provide the information requested below plus a resume for all qualified social workers who will serve as a field instructor for social work students: A. Field instructor Official Title Education and Training: 1. Degrees Held, Awarding Institutions 2. Other Related Training \_\_\_\_\_ 3. Other Related Experience (PLEASE ATTACH CURRENT RESUME) B. Field instructor \_\_\_\_ Official Title Education and Training: 1. Degrees Held, Awarding Institutions \_\_\_\_\_ 2. Other Related Training 3. Other Related Experience (PLEASE ATTACH CURRENT RESUME)

Please attach a brief description of your agency's programs and services (interpretive materials, brochures, etc., are acceptable) as well as a description of the kinds of generalist practice activities in which a field student will engage.

#### MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN SOUTHEAST MISSOURI STATE UNIVERSITY SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM

And

Field	Agency:

#### The Field Agency agrees to the following points:

- 1. The field instructor will interview referred students to determine the student's appropriateness for placement. *This process involves completing a Pre-Placement Interview form for Field Instructor* that is returned to the Director of Field Education. (Note that the field agency may choose not to accept any particular student for just cause.)
- 2. In advance of a student placement, an agent of the field agency will inform the student of any specific examinations, health tests, background checks and/or personnel forms required by the field agency.
- 3. The responsible director of the field agency will allow time in the field instructor's workload for teaching and continuous supervision of the student including weekly one hour, individualized supervision sessions.
- 4. The field instructor's supervisor will allow time in the field instructor's workload for attendance at meetings and training sessions conducted by the Social Work Program including an orientation and training session at least once per calendar year.
- 5. The field agency will provide an orientation for the student during the first two weeks of placement that includes the agency's scope of services, client population, constituency group, policies and procedures, HIPAA as defined by the agency, handling of records, documentation and applicable personnel policies and procedure including grievance, sexual harassment and personal safety.
- 6. The agency field instructor, in consultation with the faculty liaison, will identify and provide practice opportunities for the student in accordance with the Social Work Program mission and goals and the core social work competencies for assigned field students.
- 7. The focus of field instruction must be on the student and his/her growth and development as a competent generalist practitioner.
- 8. The field instructor will complete the *Assessment of Competencies* forms and the *Narrative Evaluation of Field Student* forms prior to the mid-term and final evaluation meetings.
- 9. The field instructor will recommend to the faculty liaison a final grade for the student.

#### **Responsibilities of the Social Work Program include:**

- 1. The Social Work Program will provide the field agency with information about the student including academic preparation, career plans, and job experiences.
- 2. The Social Work Program will provide training about core competencies.
- 3. The Social Work Program will provide the *Field Education Assessment of Competencies* forms and other forms for the mid-term and the final assessment.
- 4. The Social Work Program will make available to the field instructors syllabi, bibliographies, and CSWE materials that will facilitate integration of practice and theory.
- 5. The faculty liaison will meet three times per semester with the agency field instructor to discuss student performance and competencies including assessment of the core social work competencies during the field experience.
- 6. The Social Work Program will provide ongoing support through the liaison and the Director of Field Education.
- 7. The Social Work Program will purchase professional liability insurance for field students.

Director of Field Education	Date
Agency Representative	Date
Southeast Missouri State University Representative	Date

### PRE-PLACEMENT INTERVIEW FORM FOR FIELD INSTRUCTOR

Southeast Missouri State University
Social Work Program

ST	TUDENT NAME	
FI	TELD INSTRUCTOR:	
То	To be completed by Field Instructor.	
1.	. Does the student seem to possess characteristics that are appropriate for taking and carry responsibilities in your agency?	ing out
	Yes No (Please identify elements on which your assessment is based).	
2.	. Are you willing to accept this student for placement with your agency?	
	Yes No (Please identify conditions for acceptance if your answer is yes).	
Ple	Please return to: Director of Field Education, Social Work Program,	
	Department of Criminal Justice, Social Work, and Sociology, Brandt Room 329, MS 7950, Southeast Missouri State University Cape Girardeau, MO 63701-4799 Phone: (573) 651-2541	

## PRE-PLACEMENT INTERVIEW FORM FOR STUDENT

Southeast Missouri State University
Social Work Program

ST	TUDENT NAME	
FI	ELD INSTRUCT	ΓOR:
(T	o be completed b	by student):
1.		) competencies that you hope to master and discuss ways you think this placement may tribute your ability to master these competencies.
2.		ersonal characteristics which you feel will contribute to your success in this placement e which should be dealt with to make this a successful placement for you.
Plo	ease return to:	Director of Field Education, Social Work Program, Department of Criminal Justice, Social Work, and Sociology, Brandt Room 329, MS 7950 Southeast Missouri State University Cape Girardeau, MO 63701-4799

Phone: (573) 651 2541

### **APPLICATION FOR FIELD EDUCATION**

Southeast Missouri State University
Social Work Program

	bociai work i rogram		
1.	Name:		Oate:
2.	Temporary Address:		
	City:	State:	Zip:
	Temporary Phone:	E-mail address_	
	Cell Phone:		
3.	Permanent Home Address:		
	City:	State	Zip:
	City:	E-mail address:	
4.		No	
5.	Please indicate any college, community, and/or service actividate five years. Indicate both volunteer and paid employment organization:	, and describe you	ar role with that agency or
6.	Please indicate any special circumstances that may affect you health/mental health conditions, family needs)	r performance in	your placement. (e.g.,
7.	Is there a specific geographical location that interests you for If yes, please identify:		
8.	Please indicate the <u>three</u> areas of social work in which you are you prefer most, a "2" by the next, etc. Every effort will be no field experiences. There is no guarantee, however, that you we depend greatly on the specific agencies participating in the profor that particular semester.	nade to make app vill receive your f ogram and the nu	ropriate placements for your irst choice. Placement will mber of students applying
	Aging/Geriatrics		Family Services
	Substance Use Disorder: treatment/program planning		Housing/Homelessness
	Child Welfare		Medical Social Work
	Community Services/Community Development		Mental Health Services
	Corrections: adult/juvenile (circle preference)		Physical Disability
	Developmental Disabilities		Youth Services
	Domestic Violence		School
	Other- please describe		Hospice

·
ch you see yourself
to your future
el uncomfortable

Because social work is a helping profession concerned with personal growth and self-awareness (as well as many other areas), it will be useful to the Social Work Program, in assessing your application, to have

Department of Criminal Justice, Social Work, and Sociology

Brandt Rm. 329, MS 7950

Southeast Missouri State University Cape Girardeau, MO 63701-4799

Phone: (573) 651-2541

ADVISOR'S CERTIFICATION FORM	
	(To be completed jointly by the student and advisor.)
Date: Name:	SE ID:
	Student must have completed the required 105 University Credit Hours. te grades earned in the required courses listed below. Use "IP" for classes in which you are led. Indicate "summer" and the year for classes to be taken during the summer before the semester.
<ul><li>B. <u>Compl</u></li><li>C. <u>Basic I</u></li></ul>	sion to Social Work Program letion of Portfolio Standardized Assignments Knowledge and Comprehensive Course Requirements sychological Perspectives on Human Behavior
WP-003 75	5 Hour Writing Proficiency Exam
University r	required Critical Thinking Exam
•	red Professional Foundation Courses ntroduction to Social Work
SW-201 S	Social and Economic Justice
SW-205 In	ntroduction to Social Welfare Policy
SW-207 U	Understanding Cultural & Social Diversity
SW-221 In	nterviewing Skills for Generalist Practice
SW-222 C	Case Management
SW-242 S	Statistics for Social Scientists
SW-307 H	Human Behavior in the Social Environment I
SW-308 H	Human Behavior in the Social Environment II
SW-310 S	Social Welfare Policies and Issues
SW-321 C	Generalist Practice I
SW-322 C	Generalist Practice II
SW-323 C	Generalist Practice III
SW-342 R	Research Methods
SW-35X S	Social Work Elective 1(name)
SW-35X S	Social Work Elective 2 (name)
SW-35X S	Social Work Elective 3(opt.)
SW-387 I	ndependent Study in Social Work
Part II: GPA:  SW M Total	(If GPA is less than 2.5, statements from instructors indicating an estimate of grades at this time will be necessary.)  Major GPA: (Section D. above only)  Credit Hours: (Including current semester, but excluding Field Education

semester.)

Comments:
I verify that, unless noted otherwise, this student has met all the academic requirements for field education.  Advisor Signature:
I UNDERSTAND THAT INFORMATION ON THIS APPLICATION MAY BE SHARED WITH PROSPECTIVE FIELD INSTRUCTORS. Student Signature:

#### FIELD INSTRUCTOR'S EVALUATION OF FACULTY LIAISON

ld a	gency	_	Date			
ld I	nstructor					
ase nio	read each statement carefully and circle the letter that mo	ost clearly c	orrespo	nds to	your	
<u>A</u> =	Strongly Agree B = Agree C = Undecided D =	Disagree	$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{S}$	trongly	Disagr	<u>ee</u>
1.	Faculty liaison arranged for a site visit early in the semester competencies with field instructor and student.	to review po	ortfolio s B	cores fo	or D	Е
2.	Faculty liaison provided support to field instructor overseein	g the entire A	assessm B	ent pro	cess.	Е
3.	Faculty liaison served as a resource to field instructors relate competencies, identifying evidence of mastery of competence				g D	E
4.	Faculty liaison conducted midterm and final site visits to fac core competencies, student strengths and areas for improven		ssion rel B	ated to	assessm D	ent o
5.	Faculty liaison developed a working relationship with field i experience for the student.	nstructor to A	enhance B	the qua	ality of D	the fi
6.	Faculty liaison provided consultation related to the student a	nd his/her f	ield expe B	erience. C	D	E
7.	Faculty liaison was available to mediate issues that arose bet agency as requested.	tween the st A	udent, fi	eld inst	ructor a	nd/or E
8.	Faculty liaison was accessible to field instructor as needed.	A	В	C	D	Е
9.	Faculty liaison demonstrated sensitivity to issues of privacy	and confide A	ntiality. B	C	D	Е
10.	Faculty liaison sought field instructor's input on assignment	ent of stude A	ent's fin B	al grad C	le. D	Е
	tions for improvement of the faculty liaison role to enhance s	tudent learn	ing and t	field ag	ency	

#### FIELD INSTRUCTOR'S EVALUATION OF THE PROGRAM

Please evaluate and comment on the following processes to assist us in improving the program. Please complete the form and forward it to the Director of Field Education at the end of the semester.

<u>A</u> =	Strongly Agree	B = Agree	C = Undecided	D = Disagree	<u>E</u>	<u>= Strong</u>	<u>gly Disa</u>	ıgree
1	A da assata in farma ati		ad abaye tha atyrdant	٨	D	C	D	E
1.	Adequate informati	on was provide	ed about the student.	A	В	C	D	E
2.	Faculty provided ac	dequate suppor	t to me as a field instru	ictor. A	В	C	D	E
3.	The Field Education	n Manual prov	ided the information I	needed in an o	easily a	accessible	e forma	t.
		•		A	В	C	D	E
4.	The Field Education	n Assessment o	of Competencies forms	were helpful	in dev	eloping a	and	
	assessing the studer		•	A	В	C	D	E
5.		n Orientation a	nd Training clearly inf			•		
	field instructor.			A	В	C	D	E
6.	The Director of Fie	ld Education w	as responsive and help	oful in providi	ng info	ormation	, addres	sing
	problems, and respond	onding to reque	ests in a timely fashion	. A	В	C	D	Ē
7.	The Social Work P	rogram has val	ued my contribution ar	nd ideas as a f	iald in	etruetor e	and incl	ndad
/.			f field education facult		В	C	D	E
8.	The student I super	vised was aded	juately educated in the	areas of socia	ıl work	c foundat	ional	
	knowledge.		,	A	В	C	D	E
9.	The student's acad	lemic preparat	ion has provided the s	student with	adequa	ate skills	to be a	ble
			alist practice core soc					
				A	В	C	D	E
10.			ion has provided the s				s to be	able
	to demonstrate ma	stery of gener	alist practice core soc	alai work coii	ipeten B	Cies.	D	Е
11.	What things could t	the Social Wor	k Program do to make	the role of fie		ructor m	_	L
			sfying, and less proble					

# STUDENT'S EVALUATION OF THE FIELD EDUCATION PROGRAM

Please evaluate and comment on the following processes to assist us in improving the program. Please complete the form and submit it to the Director of Field Education at the end of your field semester.

<u>A</u> =	Strongly Agree	B = Agree	C = Undecided	D = Disagree	$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{E}$	Strongly	Disagr	<u>ee</u>
1.	The field agency pl	acement/agenc	y selection process	was effective and A	approp	riate. C	D	Е
2.	The Social Work Pr Education.	rogram provide	ed adequate information	tion and support to A	me as	a studen	t in Fiel D	d E
3.	The Field Education	n Manual provi	ded the information	I needed in an ea	sily acc	cessible fo	ormat. D	Е
4.	The Field Education conceptual classroo	•	eminar was helpful t th real-world genera		_		d D	Е
5.	The small group lia		vere helpful to me in d generalist social w	connecting theor	_			Ľ
	classioom concepts	with ical-word	u generalist social v	A	В	C	D	E
6.			elpful to me in unde					ce
	experience and com	needing theoret	icar and conceptuar	A	В	C	D	E.
7.	The Director of Fie		as responsive and hests in a timely fashi		g inforr	nation, ac	ddressin	g
	problems, and respe	manig to reque	sts in a timery rasin	A A	В	C	D	E
8.	The faculty liaison contact and respond			nd of my field ins	tructor	by provio	ling reg	ular
	contact and respond	ing to requests	Tor assistance.	A	В	C	D	E
9.	The faculty liaison		supportive of me a ork competences and		ctor by	providing	g clear	
	interpretation of the	core social we	ork competences and	A A	В	C	D	E
10.	The Social Work Pr	rogram values	my contribution and	ideas as a student A	В	C	D	Е
11.	I was prepared for r work competencies	•	nent, and, overall ab	le, to demonstrate	mastei	ry of the o	core soc	ial
	orn competences	•		٨	D	C	D	Е

#### STUDENT'S EVALUATION OF PLACEMENT AND FIELD INSTRUCTOR

Please answer the following questions as adequately as you can. This form is to be completed by the student and given to the Director of Field Education.

<u>A</u> =	Strongly Agree	B = Agree	C = Undecided	D = Disagree	<b>E</b> :	= Strong	gly Disa	gree
1.	The field agency	is committed	to social work edu	cation.				
				A	В	C	D	E
2.	The field agency mastery of the con		• •	lents to develop	and d	emonst	rate	
	•		-	A	В	C	D	E
3.	My Field Instructor needs during the f	-		unt of direction	and st	ructure	to mee	t my
	C	1		A	В	C	D	E
4.	My Field Instruct	or was availal	ble and readily acc	essible to meet	my ne	eeds as a	a studer	nt.
	J		J	A	B	C	D	Е
5.	My questions wer	e answered the	noroughly.	A	В	С	D	Е
6.	My Field Instruct	or met with m	ne on a regular (we	ekly) basis to gi	ve m	e feedh:	ack and	
0.	assess competence		ic on a regular (we	ckiy) basis to gi	IVC III	c recubi	ack and	
	assess competence	103.		A	В	C	D	E
7.			e guidance in identi		and m	neasuring	g the	
	competencies and p	ractice behavi	ors on you're the fie		_	~	_	_
				A	В	С	D	Е
8.	I was included in st	aff meetings a	nd discussions.					
				A	В	C	D	E
9.	I was informed of c	hanges in poli	cv that might affect	mv work at the as	gency.			
			, E	A	В	C	D	E
10	Reading materials	were made a	vailable to me					
10.	Reading materials	were made t	ivanable to me.	Α	В	C	D	Е
11.	I had the opportunithan Field Instructor		amiliar with the acti	vities of other wo	rkers i	in the ag	ency oth	
				A	В	C	D	E
12	The field agency	offered an on	portunity for me to	practice at all t	hree 1	evels of	f <b>nr</b> actio	ce.
12.	The field agency	offered an op	portainty for me to	A	В	C	D	Е
13.			ee take place in you would make this a r				ent	

#### STUDENT'S EVALUATION OF FACULTY FIELD LIAISON

Southeast Missouri State University Social Work Program

This evaluation consists of several sets of statements concerning various aspects of the field experience and responsibilities of the faculty liaison. Indicate the extent to which you would agree or disagree with each statement.

This evaluation is confidential. Do not provide your name. Do not personally identify your answer sheet. Instructors do not see the results or comments of this evaluation until course grades have been submitted for the semester.

Mark your answers in the corresponding circles on the answer sheet.

<u>A</u> =	Strongly Agree	B = Agree	C = Undecided	D = Disagree	<b>E</b> =	Strongl	y Disagı	<u>ree</u>
1.	The faculty liaison	communicated	with me as needed.	A	В	C	D	E
2.	The faculty liaison	helped me unde	erstand the assessmen	nt process.				
	·	•		A	В	C	D	E
3.	The faculty liaison	reviewed my pr	ogress towards dem	onstrating maste	ry of c	ore comp	petencies	
				A	В	C	D	E
4.	The faculty liaison	expressed intere	est in the quality of r	ny field educatio	n exp	erience.		
				A	В	C	D	E
5.	The faculty liaison	addressed probl	ems or issues that ar	ose during the s	emeste			
				A	В	C	D	E
6.	The faculty liaison	responded pron	nptly to my needs as	a field education				
				A	В	С	D	E
7.	The faculty liaison	provided helpfu	ıl feedback in respon	•				_
				A	В	С	D	E
8.	The faculty liaison	provided feedba	ack in response to m	•			•	
				A	В	С	D	E
9.	The faculty liaison	was available w	hen I needed him/he	er. A	В	C	D	E
10.	The faculty liaison	facilitated usefu	al discussion during	our weekly grou	p meet	tings.		
	·		C	A	В	C	D	E
11.	The faculty liaison	made me feel co	omfortable in sharin	g my field exper	iences	with the	group in	our
	weekly meetings.			A	В	C	D	E
12.	The faculty liaison	contributed sign	nificantly to the field	education expen	rience.			
	Additional Comme	nte:		A	В	C	D	E

#### FACULTY LIAISON'S EVALUATION OF FIELD AGENCY

Please answer the following questions as adequately as you can. This form is to be completed by the faculty liaison and given to the Director of Field Education.

Strongly Agree	$\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{Agree}$	C = Undecided	D = Disagre	ee E	= Strong	gly Disag	<u>gree</u>
					luding a		
willingness to acti	very participa	ate on an ongoing	basis. A	В	C	D	E
•			_	•			
	o de veropinen	it and acinomonature	A	R	C	D D	E
	that provides s	structured learning o	pportunities fo	r meanin	ıgful ger	neralist	
				В	C	D	Е
				and deve	lopment	of field	
•			A	В	C	D	Е
teaching and contin	uous supervisi	· •					E
	· -	opropriate general	orientation fo A	or the stu B	ident du C	ring the D	E
The agency adherence Code of Ethics.	es to and pror	notes policies and	procedures co	onsisten B	t with tl C	he NAS' D	W E
The agency exhib	oits overall co	nsistency with the	mission and	goals of	the Soc	rial Wor	k
Program.	nts overall co	historicy with the	A	В	C	D D	E
There is a focus on	the student and	d his/her growth and	l development	as a com	petent g	eneralist	
practitioner.			A	В	C	D	E
The agency provide	des a professi	onal environment	for the studen		•		
			A		_		E
The agency provide	des a work en	vironment that sup	pports diversi	-	clusion		
			A	В	С		E
						supplies,	,
and the equipment	i needed to pe	assigned de	. *			D	Е
	willingness to acti Agency is a setting consistent with the competencies. Agency is a setting practice experience There is a willingne instructor(s) and stu The responsible dire teaching and contin supervision sessions The field agency p first two weeks of The agency adhere Code of Ethics. The agency exhib Program. There is a focus on practitioner. The agency provid The agency provid The agency provid	Agency staff demonstrates a co- willingness to actively participal Agency is a setting that provide consistent with the development competencies. Agency is a setting that provides a practice experience with clients at There is a willingness to dedicate instructor(s) and students.  The responsible director of the fie teaching and continuous supervisi supervision sessions.  The field agency provides an ap first two weeks of placement.  The agency adheres to and provide of Ethics.  The agency exhibits overall con Program.  There is a focus on the student and practitioner.  The agency provides a profession The agency provides a work en The agency provides adequate	Agency staff demonstrates a commitment to social willingness to actively participate on an ongoing. Agency is a setting that provides opportunity for consistent with the development and demonstration competencies.  Agency is a setting that provides structured learning of practice experience with clients at all three levels of provides a willingness to dedicate agency resources to instructor(s) and students.  The responsible director of the field agency allows time teaching and continuous supervision of the student incompervision sessions.  The field agency provides an appropriate general first two weeks of placement.  The agency adheres to and promotes policies and Code of Ethics.  The agency exhibits overall consistency with the Program.  There is a focus on the student and his/her growth and practitioner.  The agency provides a professional environment that supervisions and provides a work environment that supervisions are provides and appropriate general first two weeks of placement.	Agency staff demonstrates a commitment to social work education willingness to actively participate on an ongoing basis. A  Agency is a setting that provides opportunity for generalist lear consistent with the development and demonstration of mastery competencies.  A Agency is a setting that provides structured learning opportunities for practice experience with clients at all three levels of practice. A  There is a willingness to dedicate agency resources to the education instructor(s) and students.  A The responsible director of the field agency allows time in the field it teaching and continuous supervision of the student including weekly supervision sessions.  A The field agency provides an appropriate general orientation for first two weeks of placement.  A The agency adheres to and promotes policies and procedures of Code of Ethics.  A The agency exhibits overall consistency with the mission and Program.  A There is a focus on the student and his/her growth and development practitioner.  A The agency provides a professional environment for the student and procedures of the agency provides a work environment that supports diversing the agency provides adequate workspace, telephone access, not a	Agency staff demonstrates a commitment to social work education includingness to actively participate on an ongoing basis. A B  Agency is a setting that provides opportunity for generalist learning exconsistent with the development and demonstration of mastery of the competencies. A B  Agency is a setting that provides structured learning opportunities for meaning practice experience with clients at all three levels of practice. A B  There is a willingness to dedicate agency resources to the education and development in the field instructor (s) and students. A B  The responsible director of the field agency allows time in the field instructor teaching and continuous supervision of the student including weekly one-house supervision sessions. A B  The field agency provides an appropriate general orientation for the stufirst two weeks of placement. A B  The agency adheres to and promotes policies and procedures consistent Code of Ethics. A B  The agency exhibits overall consistency with the mission and goals of Program. A B  There is a focus on the student and his/her growth and development as a compractitioner. A B  The agency provides a professional environment for the student's safety A B  The agency provides a work environment that supports diversity and in A B  The agency provides adequate workspace, telephone access, necessary and the equipment needed to perform assigned duties and responsibilities.	Agency staff demonstrates a commitment to social work education including a willingness to actively participate on an ongoing basis. A B C Agency is a setting that provides opportunity for generalist learning experience consistent with the development and demonstration of mastery of the core social competencies. A B C Agency is a setting that provides structured learning opportunities for meaningful ger practice experience with clients at all three levels of practice. A B C There is a willingness to dedicate agency resources to the education and development instructor(s) and students. A B C The responsible director of the field agency allows time in the field instructor's work teaching and continuous supervision of the student including weekly one-hour, indivisually supervision sessions. A B C The field agency provides an appropriate general orientation for the student during two weeks of placement. A B C The agency adheres to and promotes policies and procedures consistent with the Code of Ethics. A B C The agency exhibits overall consistency with the mission and goals of the Soc Program. A B C There is a focus on the student and his/her growth and development as a competent gractitioner. A B C The agency provides a professional environment for the student's safety.  The agency provides a professional environment for the student's safety.  A B C The agency provides a work environment that supports diversity and inclusion A B C The agency provides adequate workspace, telephone access, necessary office stand the equipment needed to perform assigned duties and responsibilities.	Agency staff demonstrates a commitment to social work education including a willingness to actively participate on an ongoing basis. A B C D  Agency is a setting that provides opportunity for generalist learning experiences consistent with the development and demonstration of mastery of the core social work competencies.  A B C D  Agency is a setting that provides structured learning opportunities for meaningful generalist practice experience with clients at all three levels of practice. A B C D  There is a willingness to dedicate agency resources to the education and development of field instructor(s) and students.  A B C D  The responsible director of the field agency allows time in the field instructor's workload for teaching and continuous supervision of the student including weekly one-hour, individualized supervision sessions.  A B C D  The field agency provides an appropriate general orientation for the student during the first two weeks of placement.  A B C D  The agency adheres to and promotes policies and procedures consistent with the NAS' Code of Ethics.  A B C D  The agency exhibits overall consistency with the mission and goals of the Social Work Program.  A B C D  There is a focus on the student and his/her growth and development as a competent generalist practitioner.  A B C D  The agency provides a professional environment for the student's safety.  A B C D  The agency provides a work environment that supports diversity and inclusion.  A B C D  The agency provides adequate workspace, telephone access, necessary office supplies, and the equipment needed to perform assigned duties and responsibilities.

#### FACULTY LIAISON'S EVALUATION OF FIELD INSTRUCTOR

Please answer the following questions as adequately as you can. This form is to be completed by the faculty liaison and given to the Director of Field Education.

<u>A</u> =	Strongly Agree	B = Agree	C = Undecided	D = Disagree	<u>E</u> =	Strongly	<b>Disagr</b>	<u>ee</u>
1.	The field instructor	identifies stron	gly with the social v	vork profession				
	The field mondetor		gry with the social v	A	В	C	D	E
2.	The field instructor	demonstrates a	commitment to soc	ial work education	on.			
				A	В	C	D	E
3.	The field instructor	has the skills no	eeded for teaching a	and supervision.				
				A	В	C	D	E
4.	The field instructor	fosters and pro-	motes identification	with the values	and eth	ics of the		
	profession.			A	В	_	D	E
5.	The field instructor	• •	ce opportunities for		_ ^	~	_	_
_	core social work co			A	В	C	D	Е
6.	The field instructor		•		_			
7	competencies with f	•		Α	В .	С	D	E
7.	The field instructor	completes asse	ssment of core comp			-		г
0	The field instruction	h		A	B	C	D	Е
8.	The field instructor	_	_				_	
9.	and core social work. The field instructor			A atanaias A	B B	C C	D D	E E
9.	The field histractor	is effective in a	issessing core comp	etelicies. A	Ь	C	D	E
10.	The field instructor identifying evidence		•			ing comp	etencies	3,
	racinity ing evidence	of mastery of	competences, and	A	В	C	D	E
11.	The field instructor	is accessible an	nd readily available t	to student throug	hout th	e field se	mester.	
	The field metactor	is accessione an	ia readily available t	A	В	C	D	Е
12.	The field instructor	provides weekl	v one-hour face-to-	face supervisory	session	_		
		P-0	,	A	В	С	D	Е
13.	The field instructor	is available and	l prepared for midte	rm and final site	visits.			
				A	В	C	D	E
14.	The field instructor	develops a wor	king relationship wi	ith faculty liaisor	n to enk	ance the		
14.	quality of the field			A	B	C	D	Е
	quanty of the field c	experience for the	ne student.	Α	Ъ	C	D	Ľ
15.	The field instructor	communicates	with faculty liaison	as needed related	d to iss	ues and/ c	or confli	cts
	occurring with the f		<b>,</b>	A	В	С	D	Е
16.	The field instructor		on assignment of str	udent's grade.				
		1	C	A	В	C	D	E
Ple	ase describe any perf	formance issues	addressed and/or re	esolved during th	ne seme	ster. This	,	
info	ormation is vital to the	ne ongoing deve	elopment of the field	•				

# **APPENDIX B**

#### **CODE OF ETHICS**

# THE NATIONAL ASSOICIATION OF SOCIAL WORKERS (NASW) CODE OF ETHICS

#### **Preamble**

The primary mission of the social work profession is to enhance human well-being and help meet the basic human needs of all people, with particular attention to the needs and empowerment of people who are vulnerable, oppressed, and living in poverty. A historic and defining feature of social work is the profession's focus on individual well-being in a social context and the well-being of society. Fundamental to social work is attention to the environmental forces that create, contribute to, and address problems in living.

Social workers promote social justice and social change with and on behalf of clients. "Clients" is used inclusively to refer to individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers are sensitive to cultural and ethnic diversity and strive to end discrimination, oppression, poverty, and other forms of social injustice. These activities may be in the form of direct practice, community organizing, supervision, consultation, administration, advocacy, social and political action, policy development and implementation, education, and research and evaluation. Social workers seek to enhance the capacity of people to address their own needs. Social workers also seek to promote the responsiveness of organizations, communities, and other social institutions to individuals' needs and social problems.

The mission of the social work profession is rooted in a set of core values. These core values, embraced by social workers throughout the profession's history, are the foundation of social work's unique purpose and perspective:

- service
- social justice
- dignity and worth of the person
- importance of human relationships
- integrity
- competence

This constellation of core values reflects what is unique to the social work profession. Core values, and the principles that flow from them, must be balanced within the context and complexity of the human experience.

#### Purpose of the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) Code of Ethics

Professional ethics are at the core of social work. The profession has an obligation to articulate its basic values, ethical principles, and ethical standards. The NASW Code of Ethics sets forth these values, principles, and standards to guide social workers' conduct. The Code is relevant to all social workers and social work students, regardless of their professional functions, the settings in which they work, or the populations they serve.

The NASW Code of Ethics serves six purposes:

- 1. The Code identifies core values on which social work's mission is based.
- 2. The Code summarizes broad ethical principles that reflect the profession's core values and establishes a set of specific ethical standards that should be used to guide social work practice.
- 3. The Code is designed to help social workers identify relevant considerations when professional obligations conflict or ethical uncertainties arise.
- 4. The Code provides ethical standards to which the general public can hold the social work profession accountable.

- 5. The Code socializes practitioners new to the field to social work's mission, values, ethical principles, and ethical standards, and encourages all social workers to engage in self-care, ongoing education, and other activities to ensure their commitment to those same core features of the profession
- 6. The Code articulates standards that the social work profession itself can use to assess whether social workers have engaged in unethical conduct. NASW has formal procedures to adjudicate ethics complaints filed against its members.\* In subscribing to this Code, social workers are required to cooperate in its implementation, participate in NASW adjudication proceedings, and abide by any NASW disciplinary rulings or sanctions based on it.

Ethical decision making is a process. In situations when conflicting obligations arise, social workers may be faced with complex ethical dilemmas that have no simple answers. Social workers should take into consideration all the values, principles, and standards in this Code that are relevant to any situation in which ethical judgment is warranted. Social workers' decisions and actions should be consistent with the spirit as well as the letter of this Code.

#### **Ethical Principles**

The following broad ethical principles are based on social work's core values of service, social justice, dignity, and worth of the person, importance of human relationships, integrity, and competence. These principles set forth ideals to which all social workers should aspire.

Value: Service

**Ethical Principle:** Social workers' primary goal is to help people in need and to address

social problems.

Value: Social Justice

**Ethical Principle:** Social workers challenge social injustice.

**Value:** Dignity and Worth of the Person

**Ethical Principle:** Social workers respect the inherent dignity and worth of the person.

**Value:** Importance of Human Relationships

**Ethical Principle:** Social workers recognize the central importance of human relationships.

Value: Integrity

**Ethical Principle:** Social workers behave in a trustworthy manner.

Value: Competence

**Ethical Principle:** Social workers practice within their areas of competence and develop

and enhance their professional expertise.

#### **Ethical Standards**

The following ethical standards are relevant to the professional activities of all social workers. These standards concern

- (1) Social workers' ethical responsibilities to clients,
- (2) Social workers' ethical responsibilities to colleagues,
- (3) Social workers' ethical responsibilities in practice settings,
- (4) Social workers' ethical responsibilities as professionals,
- (5) Social workers' ethical responsibilities to the social work profession,
- (6) Social workers' ethical responsibilities to the broader society.

<sup>\*</sup>To review the NASW Code of Ethics in its entirety see:

 $\underline{https://www.socialworkers.org/About/Ethics/Code-of-Ethics/Code-of-Ethics-English}$ 

# APPENDIX C

#### **ASSESSMENT OF COMPETENCIES FORMS**

# MIDTERM AND FINAL NARRATIVE ASSESSMENT OF FIELD STUDENT

# ♦ MIDTERM ♦ SOUTHEAST MISSOURI STATE UNIVERSITY FIELD EDUCATION ASSESSMENT OF COMPETENCIES

Each Competency and Behavior will be assessed while in field supervision. The criteria for assessment scores are as follows:

- **1 Emerging** Student rarely or never demonstrates mastery of the behavior.
- **2 Developing** Student does not consistently demonstrate mastery of the behavior.
- **2.5 Progressing** Student is making appropriate progress toward mastery by the end of the semester.
- **3 Mastery** The student has demonstrated mastery of the behavior, and the field instructor is confident that the student will consistently practice at the level of mastery after field.

Mastery in this document refers to mastery of beginning competency skills for a bachelor's level practitioner.

The evidence should be noted on a routine basis when possible for Mid-term and Final assessments. The Field Instructor will score the assessments at Mid-Term and again for Final assessments.

#### FIELD EDUCATION ASSESSMENT OF COMPETENCIES

Student Name:	Field Instructor:			
Signature:	Agency:			
Competency 1: Demonstrate Ethical and Professional Behavior	[	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark 2.83/3
	CENT 1	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score Mid-Term	Benchmark
A. Make ethical decisions by applying the standards of the NASW Code laws and regulations, models for ethical decision-making, ethical conduct additional codes of ethics as appropriate to context			1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:				
B. Use reflection and self-regulation to manage personal values and mair professionalism in practice situations	ntain		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:				
C. Demonstrate professional demeanor in behavior; appearance; and oral electronic communication	, written, and		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:				

D. Use technology ethically and appropriately to facilitate practice outcomes	1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:		
E. Use supervision and consultation to guide professional judgement and behavior	1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:		
F. Practice personal reflection and self-correction to assure continued professional		_
development	1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:		

## **Competency 2: Engage Diversity and Difference in Practice**

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.67/3

	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score Mid-Term	Benchmark
A. Apply and communicate understanding of the importance of diversity and difference in shaping life experiences in practice at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
B. Present themselves as learners and engage clients and constituencies as experts of their own experiences		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
C. Apply self-awareness and self-regulation to manage the influence of personal biases and values in working with diverse clients and constituencies		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			

## Competency 3: Advance Human Rights and Social, Economic, and Environmental Justice

	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
			2.50/3
	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score Mid-Term	Benchmark
A. Apply their understanding of social, economic, and environmental justice to advocate for human rights at the individual and system levels		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
B. Engage in practices that advance social, economic, and environmental justice		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			

## **Competency 4: Engage in Practice-Informed Research and Research-Informed Practice**

	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark 2.67/3
A. Use practice experience and theory to inform scientific inquiry and research	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score Mid-Term 1 2 2.5 3	Benchmark 3
Evidence:		1 2 2.3 3	3
B. Apply critical thinking to engage in analysis of quantitative and qualitative research methods and research findings  Evidence:		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence.			
C. Use and translate research evidence to inform and improve practice, policy, and service delivery		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			

## **Competency 5: Engage in Policy Practice**

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.67/3

	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score Mid-Term	Benchmark
A. Identify social policy at the local, state, and federal level that impacts well-being, service delivery, and access to social services		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
B. Assess how social welfare and economic policies impact the delivery of and access to social services		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
C. Apply critical thinking to analyze, formulate, and advocate for policies that advance human right and social, economic, and environmental justice		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			

## Competency 6: Engage with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

	Portfolio	Behavior	
	Score	Score	Benchmark
			2.50/3
			1
		Behavior	
	Portfolio	Score	
	Score	Mid-Term	Benchmark
A. Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-			
environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks to engage with clients and		1 2 2.5 3	3
constituencies			
Evidence:			
B. Use empathy, reflection, and interpersonal skills to effectively engage diverse clients and			
constituencies		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
2 riderice:			

## Competency 7: Assess Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark 2.75/3
	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score Mid-Term	Benchmark
A. Collect and organize data, and apply critical thinking to interpret information from clients and constituencies		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
B. Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in- environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the analysis of assessment data from clients and constituencies		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
C. Develop mutually agreed-on intervention goals and objectives based on the critical assessment of strengths, needs, and challenges with clients and constituencies		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			

D. Select appropriate intervention strategies based on the assessment, research knowledge, and values and preferences of clients and constituencies	1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:		

## Competency 8: Intervene with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Constituencies

	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark 2.80/3
A. Critically choose and implement interventions to achieve practice goals and enhance	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score Mid-Term	Benchmark
capacities of clients and constituencies		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
B. Apply knowledge of human behavior and social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in interventions with clients and constituencies		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			
C. Use inter-professional collaboration as appropriate to achieve beneficial practice		1 2 2.5 3	3
outcomes		1 2 2.3 3	3
Evidence:			

D. Negotiate, mediate, and advocate with and on behalf of diverse clients and constituencies	1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:		
E. Facilitate effective transmissions and endings that advance mutually agreed on goals	1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:		

## Competency 9: Evaluate Practice with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark 2.75/3
A. Select and use appropriate methods for evaluation of outcomes	Portfolio Score	Behavior Score Mid-Term	Benchmark 3
Evidence:			
B. Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-			_
environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the evaluation of outcomes  Evidence:		1 2 2.5 3	3
C. Critically analyze, monito, and evaluate intervention and program processes and outcomes		1 2 2.5 3	3
Evidence:			

D. Apply evaluation findings to improve practice effectiveness at the micro, mezzo, and	1 2 2.5 3	2
macro levels	1 2 2.3 3	3
Evidence:		

#### MIDTERM NARRATIVE ASSESSMENT OF FIELD STUDENT

1. What progress has been made since the beginning of the s	emester?
2. What are the student's areas of strengths and limitations?	
3. What are the plans for learning experiences to promote the	e student's growth in his/her areas of limitations?
My signature affirms that I met for the mid-term/final evaluation	and discussed assessment of core competencies:
Field Instructor	Date
Task Instructor (if applicable)	Date
Student	Date
Faculty Liaison	Date

# ♦ FINAL ♦ SOUTHEAST MISSOURI STATE UNIVERSITY FIELD EDUCATION ASSESSMENT OF COMPETENCIES

Each Competency and Behavior will be assessed while in field supervision. The criteria for assessment scores are as follows:

- **1 Emerging** Student rarely or never demonstrates mastery of the behavior.
- **2 Developing** Student does not consistently demonstrate mastery of the behavior.
- **3 Mastery** The student has demonstrated mastery of the behavior, and the field instructor is confident that the student will consistently Practice at the level of mastery after field.

Mastery in this document refers to mastery of beginning competency skills for a bachelor's level practitioner.

The evidence should be noted on a routine basis when possible for Mid-term and Final assessments. The Field Instructor will score the assessments at Mid-Term and again for Final assessments.

#### FIELD EDUCATION ASSESSMENT OF COMPETENCIES

Student Name:	Field Instru	ctor:			
Signature:	Agency:				
Competency 1: Demonstrate Ethical and Professional Behavior			rtfolio core	ehavior Score	Benchmark 2.83/3
		Portf Sco	Mid-Te Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
A. Make ethical decisions by applying the standards of the NASW Code relevant laws and regulations, models for ethical decision-making, ethical of research, and additional codes of ethics as appropriate to context				1 2 3	3
Evidence:					
B. Use reflection and self-regulation to manage personal values and mai professionalism in practice situations	ntain			1 2 3	3
Evidence:					
C. Demonstrate professional demeanor in behavior; appearance; and ora and electronic communication	l, written,			1 2 3	3
Evidence:	·				

D. Use technology ethically and appropriately to facilitate practice outcomes			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
	1	T	T	
E. Use supervision and consultation to guide professional judgement and behavior			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
	•	T	T	
F. Practice personal reflection and self-correction to assure continued professional			1 2 3	3
development			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				

## **Competency 2: Engage Diversity and Difference in Practice**

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.67/3

Portfolio Score	Mid-Term Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
		1 2 3	3
		1 2 3	3
		1 2 3	3
		1 2 3	3
			Score Score 1 2 3

### Competency 3: Advance Human Rights and Social, Economic, and Environmental Justice

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.50/3

	Portfolio Score	Mid-Term Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
A. Apply their understanding of social, economic, and environmental justice to advocate for human rights at the individual and system levels			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
B. Engage in practices that advance social, economic, and environmental justice			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				

### **Competency 4: Engage in Practice-Informed Research and Research-Informed Practice**

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.67/3

	Portfolio Score	Mid-Term Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
A. Use practice experience and theory to inform scientific inquiry and research			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
B. Apply critical thinking to engage in analysis of quantitative and qualitative research methods and research findings			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
C. Use and translate research evidence to inform and improve practice, policy, and service delivery.			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				

## **Competency 5: Engage in Policy Practice**

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.67/3

	Portfolio Score	Mid-Term Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
A. Identify social policy at the local, state, and federal level that impacts well-being, service delivery, and access to social services			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
B. Assess how social welfare and economic policies impact the delivery of and access to social services			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
C. Apply critical thinking to analyze, formulate, and advocate for policies that advance human right and social, economic, and environmental justice.			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				

### Competency 6: Engage with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.50/3

	Portfolio Score	Mid-Term Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
A. Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in- environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks to engage with clients and constituencies			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
B. Use empathy, reflection, and interpersonal skills to effectively engage diverse clients and constituencies.			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				

## Competency 7: Assess Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.75/3

	Portfolio Score	Mid-Term Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
A. Collect and organize data, and apply critical thinking to interpret information from clients and constituencies			1 2 3	3
Evidence:		I		
B. Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in- environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the analysis of assessment data from clients and constituencies			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
C. Develop mutually agreed-on intervention goals and objectives based on the critical assessment of strengths, need, and challenges with clients and constituencies			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				

D. Select appropriate intervention strategies based on the assessment, research knowledge, and values and preferences of clients and constituencies		1 2 3	3
Evidence:			

### Competency 8: Intervene with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.80/3

A. Critically choose and implement interventions to achieve practice goals and	Portfolio Score	Mid-Term Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark
enhance capacities of clients and constituencies			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
B. Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in- environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in interventions with clients and constituencies			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				
C. Use inter-professional collaboration as appropriate to achieve beneficial practice outcomes			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				

D. Negotiate, mediate, and advocate with and on behalf of diverse clients and constituencies		1 2 3	3
Evidence:		1	1
E. Facilitate effective transitions and endings that advance mutually agreed on			
goals		1 2 3	3
Evidence:			

### Competency 9: Evaluate Practice with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Portfolio	Behavior	
Score	Score	Benchmark
		2.75/3

A. Select and use appropriate methods for evaluation of outcomes	Portfolio Score	Mid-Term Score	Behavior Score	Benchmark 3
Evidence:				
B. Apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-				
environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the evaluation of outcomes			1 2 3	3
Evidence:			ı	
C. Critically analyze, monitor, and evaluate intervention and program processes and outcomes			1 2 3	3
Evidence:				

D. Apply evaluation findings to improve practice effectiveness at the micro,		1 2 3	3
mezzo, and macro levels		1 2 3	3
Evidence:			

#### FINAL NARRATIVE ASSESSMENT OF FIELD STUDENT

1.	What progress has been made since the beginning of the semester	?			
2.	What are the student's areas of strengths and limitations?				
3.	How would you evaluate the student's present readiness for profes	ssional practice?			
4.	Assess the student's readiness for graduate education.				
5. What type of work experience do you think would enhance this individual's growth upon immediate entry into the field?					
My s	ignature affirms that I met for the mid-term/final evaluation and discussed	l assessment of core competencies:			
Field	Instructor	Date			
Task	Instructor (if applicable)	Date			
Stude	ent	Date			